2005

Mike and Mary Meloni v. Honorable Glenn K. Iwasaki : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has original jurisdiction over the filed Petition for Extraordinary Writ pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 72-2-2 (2), Rule 19 (a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Rule 65B (d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Petitioners present two issues for review:

1. Did the district court abuse its discretion by denying the Petitioners a trial de novo following the entry of a small claims court judgment? This issue presents a question of law as to whether the district court exceeded the limits of its discretion.

Kawamoto v. Fratto, 994 P. 2d 187 (Utah, 2000)¹ Since this matter is an original proceeding before this Court, the issue is preserved on page 5 of the Petition for Extraordinary Relief, Memorandum of Points and Authority dated May 11, 2005.

2. Is the district court estopped from denying Petitioners' appeal for a trial de novo when the Notice of Appeal was filed timely pursuant to the trial court's judgment? Since the facts of this case are virtually uncontested, the order of the district court is a legal conclusion and is reviewable for correctness. Burns Chiropractic Clinic v. Allstate Insurance Co., 851 P. 2d 1209 (Utah App. 1993), and Eldredge v. Utah State Retirement, 795 P. 2d 671 (Utah App. 1990). Since this matter is an original proceeding before this Court, the issue is preserved on page 8 of the Petition for Extraordinary Relief, Memorandum of Points and Authority dated May 11, 2005.

¹ The Kawamoto implied standard of review has been questioned in the very recent case of Burke v. Lewis, 2005 Ut 44. The Petitioners urge this Court, in this case, to maintain the Kawamoto standard.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following statutory provision is subject to interpretation by this Court with this Petition:

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-6-10 (1) reads as follows:

Either party may appeal the judgment in a small claims action to the district court of the county by filing a notice of appeal in the original trial court within 30 days of entry of the judgment. If the judgment in a small claims action is entered by a judge or judge pro tempore of the district court, the notice of appeal shall be filed with the district court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioners, Mike and Mary Meloni (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Melonis”), were sued by the Real Party In Interest, Troy Davis (hereinafter referred to as “Davis”), in the Small Claims Department of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, Utah on November 23, 2004. Davis alleged that the Melonis owed him slightly under \$5,000.00 for remodeling work. (R. 1). A trial was held before the small claims court on January 19, 2005, following which judgment was entered against the Melonis for just over \$2,300.00. (R. 10).

On March 2, 2005, the Melonis filed a Notice of Appeal from small claims judgment with the district court. Judge Glenn K. Iwasaki was assigned to the case. (R. 11). On March 14, 2005, Davis, by and through his attorney, filed a Motion to Dismiss Appeal. The gravamen of the motion was that the Notice of Appeal was filed untimely. (R. 17-27). A hearing on the Motion to Dismiss and a de novo trial, if necessary, was scheduled for April 11, 2005. (R. 29).

On April 5, 2005, the Melonis, by and through their attorney, filed their Memorandum In Opposition To Motion To Dismiss. (R. 30-34). At the April 11, 2005,

hearing, and following oral argument, the district court granted the Motion to Dismiss Appeal without conducting a trial de novo. (R. 49-50). As a result of that order, the Melonis filed this Petition of Extraordinary Relief on May 11, 2005. The district court entered an Order Staying the Enforcement of Judgment on June 15, 2005. (R. 62-63).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

From the record, the small claims court trial between Davis and the Melonis appears routine, except that the Melonis were represented by legal council, Lance D. Thaxton. (R. 9-10, 35). When the pro tem judge rendered his decision in favor of Davis, the trial court used a judgment form which had the following language printed on the back of it:

APPEAL. Either party may appeal a Small Claims judgment within 10 business days (not counting weekends or holidays) of loser's receipt of notice of entry of judgment. A NOTICE OF APPEAL must be filed with the court that issued the judgment and the appropriate fee paid.

(R. 11)

Mr. Thaxton pointed out to the trial court that the 10 days stated above was wrong and that the appeals time is now 30 days. (R. 35). Upon receipt of this information, the trial court wrote "30" over the "10" so that the appeals paragraph on the back of the Judgment now reads as follows:

APPEAL. Either party may appeal a Small Claims judgment within 30 business days (not counting weekends or holidays) of loser's receipt of notice of entry of judgment. A NOTICE OF APPEAL must be filed with the court that issued the judgment and the appropriate fee paid.

(R. 24).

The Melonis, representing themselves, filed the Notice of Appeal with the district court on March 2, 2005; forty-two (42) “calendar” days after the entry of the small claims court judgment, but twenty-nine (29) “business” days after the entry of the Judgment. (R. 19, 31). The district court refused to grant the Melonis a trial de novo. (R. 49).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue presented by this Petition for Extraordinary Relief is very easy to state: it is simply who shall bear the risk of a small claims court judge making a potentially incorrect written change to a clearly incorrect printed form on a small claims court judgment. Although the issue may be simple to state, the legal analysis of the issue is not. The district court ruled that the parties who relied upon the small claims court judge must bear the risk of that reliance. This is legally wrong for two reasons. First, the district court had no discretion, but must accept the filed Notice of Appeal because that Notice complied with the written instructions of the small claims court judge. Second, the doctrine of equitable estoppel requires the district judge to accept the Melonis’ Notice of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DID NOT GRANT PETITIONERS A TRIAL DE NOVO.

The Honorable Glenn K. Iwasaki (hereinafter “district court”) argues in his Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief that he

had discretion to determine what was appropriate for both parties, considering the facts and the law. The lower court had significant evidence to support its decision, based on the statute and the rule. This court should therefore determine that the lower court did not abuse its discretion.

(See Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief, p. 4).

The better rule is that, based on the statutes and the rules, the district court had no discretion but to accept, as timely, the Melonis' Notice of Appeal.

Of course, the starting point for any legal analysis of this situation is the state statute which has been quoted above. U.C.A. § 78-6-10. That statute grants either party to small claims action within "30 days" to file a Notice of Appeal. This statute does not state "calendar" or "business" days. However, this Court, by adopting Rule 12 (a) of Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedures, gave context to the state statute with the following:

Any party may appeal a final order of judgment within 30 calendar days after entry of judgment or order or after denial of a motion to set aside the judgment or order, whichever is later.

There is no dispute that the small claims court's judgment conflicts with the above quoted rule.

This Court has also prorogated Rule 1 (a) of Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedures, which reads in pertinent part as follows:

They [Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedures] are to be interpreted to carry out the statutory purpose of small claims cases, dispensing speedy justice between the parties.

In a recent case, Kawamoto v. Fratto, 994 P. 2d 187 (Utah 2000), this Court used the statutory precursor of Rule 1 (a) to hold that the district court abused its discretion by denying, at a trial de novo, a party the right to present live testimony. The denial by the district court was contrary to the instructions printed on the back of the small claims court affidavit. In so holding, this Court wrote:

we conclude that even though the instructions on the back of the affidavit are not in fact the actual simplified rules of evidence and procedure contemplated by the statute, the trial [district court] judge abused his discretion in denying petitioner the opportunity to present her evidence through live witness testimony.

994 P. 2d at 190.

If we apply the above statement to the case at hand, the district court clearly abused his discretion by denying the Melonis a trial de novo because the district court was ignoring the hand written instructions of the trial judge on the back of the trial court's signed judgment.

The district court, in its Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief, is not concerned about ignoring the lower court's handwritten order. The district court argues that

the ruling of the trial [district] court confirms, however, that a litigant should be cautious in relying on a handwritten notation on an instruction form, to the exclusion of other, more specific directives in the statute or rule.

(See Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief, p. 4)

Such a harsh burden on pro se, small claims court litigants seem to be contrary to the general rule that trial courts have the discretion to extend the time necessary to file a Notice of Appeal.

Rule 6 (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, reads in pertinent part as follows:

Enlargement. When by these rules or by a notice given thereunder or by order of the court an act is required or allowed to be done at or within a specified time, the court for cause shown may at any time in its discretion (1) with or without motion or notice order the period enlarged if request therefore is made before the expiration of the period originally prescribed or as extended by a previous order...

Although the facts in this case do not exactly fit the above quoted rule, the small claims court judge effectively enlarged the time under which a party had the right to appeal its judgment. In light of the extremely flawed form which the small claims court was using and which the judge had to correct, granting an appeals extension, even if unintended, would be appropriate under the Rules of Civil Procedure.

There is no dispute that, if the extension of time to appeal done by the small claims court judge was legal, the Melonis did everything appropriate to prosecute their appeal. This case is therefore different that Panos v. Third District Court, 103 P. 3d 695 (Utah 2004). In Panos, the small claims court appellate failed to pay her filing fee. This Court rules that, under Rule 12 (h) of the Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedures, the district court had discretion as to whether or not to dismiss the appeal since the payment of the fee was not a jurisdictional issue. The timely filing of a Notice of Appeal is a jurisdictional issue.

Consistent with the intent of the Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedure and Rule 6 (b) of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the small claims court judge can extend the period of time in which parties may appeal from a small claims court judgment. In this case, the time was extended for less than two weeks. The Melonis filed a timely Notice of Appeal. Therefore, the district court had no discretion but to grant the Melonis a trial de novo.

**POINT II: EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL REQUIRES THE DISTRICT COURT
 TO HOLD A TRIAL DE NOVO.**

The doctrine of equitable estoppel is not normally applicable to governmental decisions or actions. However, the Utah courts have permitted the doctrine to be used

against the government in limited circumstances. In the seminal case Celebrity Club, Inc. v. Utah Liquor Control Commission, 602 P. 2d 689 (Utah 1979), this court held:

Equitable estoppel may be applied against the State, even when it is acting in a governmental capacity, if necessary to prevent manifest injustice, and the exercise of governmental powers will not be impaired as a result.

The elements essential to invoke the doctrine of Equitable estoppel are:

- (1) an admission, statement, or act inconsistent with the claim afterwards asserted,
- (2) action by the other party on the faith of such admission, statement, or act, and
- (3) injury to such other party resulting from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such admission, statement, or act.

602 P. 2d at 694.

There is no dispute that all three of the above quoted elements exist in the case at hand. Instead, the district court argues that footnote 10 of the Celebrity Club case requires, in the case at hand, “culpability” on the part of the small claims court when it changed the judgment form. (See Response to Petition for Extraordinary Relief, p. 5). Such reliance upon the footnote is misplaced. In Eldrede v. Utah State Retirement Board, 795 P. 2d 671 (Utah App. 1990), the Court of Appeals refer only to the above stated three point test in applying equitable estoppel to government action. In Holland v. Career Service Review Board, 856 P. 2d 678 (Utah App 1993), the Court of Appeals again referred only to the three point test of Celebrity Club when the court refused to apply the doctrine to an agency action.

The real legal issue in applying the doctrine of equitable estoppel to the case at hand is the first part of the above quoted Celebrity Club decision: is applying the doctrine

“necessary to prevent manifest injustice, and the exercise of governmental powers will not be impaired as a result”. The Melonis have satisfied this precondition to applying the doctrine. Not permitting pro se, small claims litigation the right of appeal after they complied with the written instructions of a judge must be “manifest injustice”.

Hopefully, this case is a unique situation because the small claims judgment forms should be changed so the case at hand will never occur again. Thus, governmental powers will not be impaired.

The doctrine of equitable estoppel should be applied to the written instruction of the small claims court and the Melonis should be permitted to have a trial de novo.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the above, the Melonis’ Petition for Extraordinary Relief should be granted and this Court should order the district court to conduct a trial de novo on the Davis’ small claims affidavit.