2005

# Mike and Mary Meloni v. Honorable Glenn K. Iwasaki : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

## **Jurisdictional Statement**

This court has jurisdiction over a petition for extraordinary relief under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(2) and over this civil action under § 78-2-2(3)(j).

## **Issues for Review**

1. Does the failure to file a small claims notice of appeal within thirty days deprive the appellate court of jurisdiction?
2. May the thirty day time limit be extended and, if so, how is the time appropriately extended?
3. If the appellate time limit is not jurisdictional, did the district court otherwise abuse its discretion in dismissing the appeal?
4. Does the doctrine of equitable estoppel mandate that the small claims appeal be reinstated?

## **Standard of Review**

Under Rule 65B(d)(4), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, “the court’s review shall not extend further than to determine whether the respondent has regularly pursued its authority.” The lower court’s legal conclusions are not accorded any deference. Salt Lake Child & Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. v. Frederick, 890 P.2d 1017, 1019 (Utah 1995). The trial court’s other actions are at least reviewed for abuse of discretion, and probably



for whether there was a gross and flagrant abuse of discretion. Burke v. Lewis, 2005 UT 44, ¶ 12, 530 Utah Adv. Rep. 3. The first two issues involve legal conclusions while the others involve discretion.

### **Statement of the Case**

The Respondent is satisfied with the Petitioners' statement of the facts and procedural history of this case.

### **Summary of Argument**

This case presents a review of the district court judge's decision dismissing a notice of appeal that was filed more than 30 days after the small claims judgment was entered. The exact reasons for the dismissal are not known from the record. However, it appears to be jurisdictionally based. If the dismissal was based on the trial court's determination that the 30 day time limit is jurisdictional, that conclusion is not entitled to deference. If the dismissal was based on a determination that the Petitioners failed to take a necessary step to prosecute their appeal, then the determination is entitled to deference and should only be reversed if there was an egregious abuse of discretion.

This court should determine that the timely filing of a notice of appeal in a small claims case is jurisdictional. The appellate courts in this state have consistently stated that, in other types of appeals, the timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional. An

appellate court does not have jurisdiction over an appeal until the notice is filed.

Therefore, jurisdictional significance is attached to this particular pleading. A time line that is fluid would lead to unpredictability and a lack of finality in small claims judgments.

In other circumstances, the time within which an appeal must be filed can be extended by following certain procedures set forth under rule. However, the small claims rules do not provide a mechanism for extending the time for appeal. Therefore, the small claims court could not order an extension.

If the timely filing of a notice of appeal is not jurisdictional, or if the time may otherwise be extended, the district court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing the appeal. The circumstances under which the language on the small claims affidavit was changed from "10" to "30" do not support a conclusion that the small claims court intentionally extended the time within which an appeal could be filed. The Petitioners were represented by counsel at all stages of these proceedings and counsel should have been aware of the statute and rule. Given the specific language of the statute and rule, it was unreasonable for the Petitioners to rely on the handwritten notation to the exclusion of more specific authorities. The trial court therefore did not abuse its discretion.

Finally, equitable estoppel does not require that the appeal be reinstated. The doctrine should not be extended to preclude an appellate judge from ruling differently than a trial court judge. The Petitioners were represented by counsel. It was not reasonable for the Petitioners to rely on the handwritten notation on the small claims form. The time for filing an appeal would have been readily apparent from reviewing the small claims rules.

## **Argument**

### **1. This court's review is limited on a Petition for Extraordinary Relief.**

As noted under the standard of review, a petition for extraordinary relief presents a unique set of circumstances for review. Litigants typically may not appeal small claims cases to the Supreme Court. However, there may be circumstances in which this court should accept a petition for extraordinary relief on a small claims case, if a litigant has not had an adequate opportunity to address an action taken by a lower court. This case might present such a situation. However, in order to avoid repeated circumvention of the small claims appellate limitations, extraordinary relief review should be very limited.

If the issue presented to this court is a legal conclusion, Salt Lake Child & Family Therapy Clinic, Inc. v. Frederick, 890 P.2d 1017, 1019 (Utah 1995) mandates that this court grant no deference to the district court's legal conclusions. If the issue does not

involve a legal conclusion, then the district court's action is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Respondent asserts that the appropriate abuse of discretion standard should be that adopted by State v. Stirba, 972 P.2d 918, 922 (Utah App. 1998), which stated that a lower court's action would not be disturbed unless the court committed "gross and flagrant" abuse of discretion. The gross and flagrant standard is most appropriate when reviewing issues such as that which might be presented by this case.

As will be discussed below, the timely filing of a notice of appeal in a small claims case should be declared jurisdictional. If the court determines that timely filing is not jurisdictional, then dismissal is left to the discretion of the district court under Rule 12 of the Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedure. The gross and flagrant standard would aid in preventing repeated circumvention of the appellate restrictions in small claims cases. This court therefore will initially determine whether the small claims statute attaches jurisdictional significance to the timely filing of a notice of appeal and, absent that, should only overturn the dismissal if there was a gross and flagrant abuse of discretion.

**2. The failure to file a notice of appeal within thirty days is jurisdictional.**

Rule 12(a) of the Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedures states that "[a]ny party may appeal a final order or judgment within 30 calendar days after judgment or order or after denial of a motion to set aside the judgment or order, whichever is later."

Subparagraph (b) states: “[t]o appeal, the appealing party must file a notice of appeal in the court issuing the judgment. Unless waived upon filing an affidavit of impecuniosity, the appropriate fee must accompany the notice of appeal.” One of the initial issues in a case such as this is whether the language in the rule attaches jurisdictional significance to the filing requirements.

In Panos v. Third Judicial District Court of Tooele County, 2004 UT 87, ¶ 13, 103 P.3d 695, this court cited paragraph (b) and stated that “the plain language of Rule 12 fail[s] to attach jurisdictional significance to either filing the notice of appeal or paying the required filing fees.” The issue in Panos was whether the failure to pay a \$10.00 fee mandated under Utah Code Ann. § 78-6-14(4) was jurisdictional. The court held that it was not. The jurisdictional significance of the notice of appeal itself was not before the court. The court’s language on this aspect might therefore be dicta. The court’s statement raises the question of precisely what language would attach jurisdictional significance to the timely filing of the notice of appeal.

In Prowswood, Inc. v. Mountain Fuel Supply Company, 676 P.2d 952, 955 (Utah 1984), this court stated that “it is axiomatic in this jurisdiction that the failure to timely perfect an appeal is a jurisdictional failure requiring dismissal of the appeal.” The court referenced three cases in making this conclusion: Tracy v. University of Utah Hospital,

619 P.2d 340 (Utah 1980), Watson v. Anderson, 504 P.2d 1003, (Utah 1973), and Anderson v. Anderson, 282 P.2d 845 ( Utah 1955). Prowswood involved an interpretation of Rule 73 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the provisions of which were subsequently moved into Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. These cases and rules help answer the jurisdictional question.

In Anderson v. Anderson, the court reviewed the separate provisions of Rule 73.

The rule at the time stated:

[w]hen an appeal is permitted from a district court to the Supreme Court, the time within which an appeal may be taken shall be one month from the entry of the judgment appealed from unless a shorter time is provided by law, except that upon a showing of excusable neglect based on a failure of a party to learn of the entry of judgment the district court in any action may extend the time for appeal not exceeding one month from the expiration of the original time herein prescribed.

Anderson, 282 P.2d at 847. The rule also stated:

[f]ailure of the appellant to take any of the further steps to secure the review of the judgment appealed from does not affect the validity of the appeal, but is ground only for such remedies as are specified in this rule or, when no remedy is specified, for such action as the supreme court deems appropriate, which may include dismissal of the appeal.

Id. The Anderson court stated that “the purpose of this rule to make jurisdictional a failure to file the notice of appeal on time is clearly evident by the special provision therein” concerning the effects of the “further steps.” Id. The question that has perhaps not been directly answered by these cases is whether jurisdictional significance is attached through the language that describes the time within which an appeal must be filed or the subsequent “special provision” that discusses the “failure . . . to take any of the further steps to secure review.”<sup>1</sup> Respondent asserts that the jurisdictional significance for the notice of appeal should be gleaned through the first sentence or clause. The second, “special provision,” may clarify or bolster the significance established by the first clause, but does not independently establish jurisdictional significance for the notice of appeal itself. As has been repeatedly stated by the appellate courts, it is axiomatic in this jurisdiction that the timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional.

There are solid reasons for finding jurisdictional significance with the timely filing of the appeal document itself. The filing of certain pleadings establishes jurisdiction in a court. Without the filing of those documents, a court does not have jurisdiction. A

---

<sup>1</sup>These cases usually address whether a notice was, in fact, timely or whether a fee was also required to establish jurisdiction.

district court does not have jurisdiction over a civil matter until a complaint is filed. A criminal information establishes jurisdiction over a criminal matter. An appellate court does not have jurisdiction until a notice of appeal is filed. There is thus already jurisdictional significance attached to the filing of a notice of appeal. It can be argued about whether additional requirements are also necessary to establish jurisdiction, but it can never be seriously argued that jurisdiction can be established without the filing of certain pleadings. It is therefore the first phrase or clause governing the filing of the document, which attaches jurisdictional significance. The jurisdictional significance of “further steps” may be clarified or limited by subsequent qualifications, but it is the first sentence that is important when dealing with the significance of the notice of appeal.

The time within which a notice of appeal must be filed should not be fluid. The law favors finality of judgments. See Holbrook v. Hodson, 466 P.2d 843, 845 (Utah 1970) (“The overriding principle of all the aforementioned rules [on timely motions and appeals] is to assure the finality of judgments”). Because jurisdiction is not established until the notice is filed, the time should not be subject to the vagueness that can occur from a discretionary time line. If notices of appeal are permitted beyond thirty days, then late filings may increase and will not be automatically rejected. Motions to dismiss might



also increase and judges would then be called upon to decide whether an appeal should be accepted. Time and circumstance would become relevant arguments. It might be an abuse of discretion to refuse to accept an appeal that is one day late in some circumstances, but not an abuse to dismiss an appeal that is fifteen days late under other circumstances. Or, it might be an abuse of discretion to dismiss an appeal that is fifteen days late if certain circumstances are present, but not an abuse of discretion to dismiss an appeal that is one day late if different circumstances are present. Litigants will be faced with unpredictability and appellate courts might be faced with an endless stream of cases to determine jurisdiction.

An adverse ruling in this case could certainly result in a rule change declaring a failure to file within thirty days to be jurisdictional. However, this would be a unique rule change as there aren't any apparent rules which specifically declare that timely filing is jurisdictional. This simply leads back to the argument that the rule is sufficiently clear to establish jurisdictional significance. A notice of appeal must be filed to confer jurisdiction upon the appellate court and the notice must be filed within thirty days. Beyond that time, a court does not have jurisdiction.

In Harley Davidson v. Workforce Appeals Board of the Utah Dep't of Workforce Services, 2005 UT 38, ¶ 9, 116 P.3d 349, this court was again faced with the issue of

whether filing fees created a jurisdictional bar. This court again stated that “[i]n order to bring a measure of finality to the orders entered in trial courts and administrative agencies, we have authorized appellate courts to assert jurisdiction over appeals only when the notice of appeal is timely filed.” Id. The court noted that the Utah Court of Appeals had previously treated appeals under Rule 14 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (administrative actions) differently from appeals under Rule 3. Id. at ¶ 14. Rule 14 did not and does not contain the qualifying language concerning “defects other than untimeliness.” Id. at ¶ 11. The court of appeals had thus apparently found jurisdictional significance in the timeliness of an appeal, even absent the “special provision” on other defects found in Rule 3. See Hausknect v. Industrial Comm’n, 882 P.2d 683, 685 (Utah App. 1994). Implicit in the court of appeals determination is that jurisdictional significance attaches from a requirement that an appeal be filed within a certain period, even if specific language on jurisdictional significance is not found in the rule. This court noted that after Gorostieta v. Parkinson, 2000 UT 99, 17 P.3d 1110, the court of appeals had revised its position. The court quoted the court of appeals in stating that “there is no reason to treat agency petitions differently than other appeals. Therefore, this court, consistent with Gorostieta, determines that timely payment of filing fees is not

jurisdictional.” Harley Davidson, at ¶ 12. The court thus found consistency even when the rules had different provisions.

These cases help support the proposition that there is, and always has been, jurisdictional significance attached to the filing of a notice of appeal. Jurisdiction is tied to filing and jurisdiction is tied to timely filing. There are questions about whether other defects raise jurisdictional problems, but all appeals should otherwise be treated consistently and the timely filing of a notice of appeal should be jurisdictional.

**3. The small claims judge did not order an extension of time.**

The Utah Court of Appeals has stated that unless “appropriately extended,” the time limit for filing a notice of appeal is jurisdictional. Serrato v. Utah Transit Authority, 2000 UT App 299, ¶ 7, 13 P.3d 616. In the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure there are specific provisions for appropriately extending the time within which an appeal must be filed. Rule 4(e) explains the process. There is no similar provision in the Utah Rules of Small Claims Procedure. Therefore, a litigant must file an appeal within thirty days.

The Petitioners argue that the small claims court extended the time within which their appeal could be filed. The Petitioners cite Rule 6 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure as authority for the extension. However, Rule 81(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states that the rules of civil procedure “shall not apply to small proceedings

(sic) except as expressly incorporated in the Small Claims Rules.” There is thus no provision for extending the time for appeal in small claims cases.

Even assuming that the time could be extended, a court would be required to follow “appropriate” procedures before extending the time. In this case, there is no indication that the Petitioners requested an extension or that the court ordered an extension of time. The only thing that occurred in this case is that the court was notified by the Petitioners’ attorney that the Legislature had changed the time for appeal. The court then changed “10” to “30” on the small claims form. There is nothing to indicate that the small claims court considered, or was asked to consider, extending the time from thirty calendar days to thirty business days. Therefore, the time was not “appropriately extended.”

**4. If the timely filing of a notice is not jurisdictional, the court did not otherwise abuse its discretion in dismissing the appeal.**

Rule 12 states that “the district court may dismiss the appeal and remand the case to the justice court if the appellant: . . . fails to take any step necessary to prosecute the appeal.”<sup>2</sup> A trial court has discretion to dismiss an appeal if the appellant does not take the appropriate steps to prosecute the appeal. If the court determines that timely filing is

---

<sup>2</sup>This case did not originate in a justice court. Presumably, the rule would still apply to cases originating in the small claims division of a district court.

not jurisdictional, filing within 30 days should still be considered a necessary step to prosecute an appeal. The failure to file within 30 days will therefore support dismissal. A trial court should have broad discretion in these matters and, as discussed above, an appellate court should only overturn a decision if there was an egregious abuse of discretion. There is no evidence that the court abused its discretion, or that the court abused its discretion in an egregious manner.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-6-10(1) states that a party may appeal a small claims judgment “by filing a notice of appeal in the original trial court within thirty days of entry of the judgment.” There is nothing in the statute stating whether the time is counted by business days or calendar days. However, there is nothing in statute to even suggest that an individual would consider the time to be business days. Rule 12 is even more specific. The rule specifically states that a notice of appeal must be filed within thirty calendar days. The only piece of information that was contrary to these authorities was a handwritten notation on a form.

According to the facts provided by the Petitioners, the circumstances under which the notation appeared on the form could not have lead to a clear-cut determination by the Petitioners that the Petitioners were requesting an extension of time. There is also nothing to indicate that the small claims court intended to supercede the statute and rule

and provide a different time frame. At the very least, the actions would have created an obligation on the part of the Petitioners to review the relevant statute and rule and determine when a appeal should be filed. The Petitioners were represented by counsel at all stages of the proceedings and counsel should have been aware of the statute and rule. If there was any confusion over the time frame it would have been incumbent on the Petitioners to rely on the shorter time frame, rather than risk reliance on a longer time frame.

Under these circumstances, the district court would not have abused its discretion in dismissing the appeal under Rule 12. The rule contained clear authority on when the appeal should have been filed. The district court could have determined that the Petitioners unreasonably relied on the edited handwritten form and therefore the court did not abuse its discretion.

**5. Equitable estoppel does not provide relief.**

The Petitioners state that equitable estoppel requires the court to hold a trial de novo. The Petitioners rely on Celebrity Club, Inc. v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n., 602 P.2d 689, 694 (Utah 1979) in support of their argument. Celebrity Club required that three elements be met in order for equitable estoppel to apply. In footnote 10 to Celebrity Club, Inc., the court stated that “estoppel arises when a party by his acts, representations,

or admissions, or by his silence when he ought to speak, intentionally or through culpable negligence, induces another to believe certain facts to exist and that such other, with reasonable prudence and diligence, relies and acts thereon so that he will suffer an injustice if the former is permitted to deny the existence of such facts.”

The Petitioners dismiss this footnote as not being part of the elements of equitable estoppel. However, the footnote cited another case, Morgan v. Board of State Lands, 549 P.2d 695, 697 (Utah 1976) in which this language was cited to explain equitable estoppel. The footnote explains what is necessary under the three elements. The elements of equitable estoppel are: (1) an admission, statement, or act inconsistent with the claim afterwards asserted, (2) action by the other party on the faith of such admission, statement, or act, and (3) injury to such other party resulting from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate such admission, statement, or act. Id. at 694.

There are several reasons why equitable estoppel should not apply. First, by its terms, the elements include a party making a statement or acting in a particular way, and the party subsequently contradicts or repudiates the action or statement. The Petitioners have not provided any authority that applies this principle to actions by a trial court judge that are arguably repudiated or contradicted by an appellate court judge. In Celebrity Club, the court recognized that this principle applies against government officials and

boards. However, the principle should not apply to bind an appellate judge (the district court judge in this case) to the actions of a lower court judge. Litigants know that a trial judge's actions can be reversed on appeal. The actions of the appellate judge should not be considered a repudiation or contradiction of the trial judge for purposes of estoppel.

There are also various "statements" that might be at issue in this case. There are three areas in which the time frame for filing a notice of appeal has been stated: the statute, the rule, and the small claims form. The Petitioners simply have not drawn an appropriate connection between certain statements and subsequent actions.

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